
AMENDMENT #1: 2021-11011A, NIGERIA: HOTSPOT NETWORK LTD RURAL 
TELEPHONY FEASIBILITY STUDY 

 
 
POC: Anna Amaya, USTDA, 1101 Wilson Boulevard, Suite 1100, Arlington, VA 22209-3901, 
Tel: (703) 875-4357, Fax: (703) 775-4037, Email: RFP@ustda.gov.   
 
 
Please note that the Request for Proposals (RFP) for the Feasibility Study for the Nigeria: 
Hotspot Network LTD Rural Telephony is amended, as follows: 
 
Questions, Answers and Clarifications:  This amendment consists of clarifying questions and 
answers submitted by potential Offerors regarding the RFP packet.  Responses to submitted 
questions are attached. 
 
 
The new deadline for submissions for this RFP has been extended to : 

• Monday, June 11, 2021 at 11:00AM EDT/4:00 PM WAT/Nigeria local time 
 
Please note that both hard copy and soft copy submissions will be required to be received by the 
extended deadline. Each Offeror must submit both hard and soft copies of proposals. 
 
Please note that Appendix 1 :Project Synopsis erroneously stated that Hotspot is a “Lagos-based” 
company. Hotspot is based in Abuja. 
 
 

(USTDA Activity No. 2021-11011A) 
 

QUESTION ANSWER 
Feasibility study of 2 PoC sites or 2000 
sites ? 

The Study shall cover the first year roll out 
target which is 500 and a general desk study of 
populated rural locations around Nigeria that 
require voice and data services. Please review 
the detailed Terms of Reference in Appendix 3 
of the RFP for more information. 

2 PoC sites are already identified, any 
details of 2000 sites, coordinates ? 

The Grantee has details of 600 target locations 
(largely Northcentral and Northwest Nigeria), 
which the Grantee will share once the preferred 
Contractor is selected through this RFP. 

The said amount covers only active or 
passive equipment's also ? 

USTDA funding does not finance equipment 
costs. 

Who will evaluate BTS & Gateway,  USTDA 
or MNO in Nigeria? 

The selected Contractor through this RFP will 
evaluate these elements. USTDA is the funder or 
financier of the study and is not evaluating or 
providing analysis under the Study except where 
explicitly defined.  

mailto:RFP@ustda.gov


QUESTION ANSWER 
What are the KPI's The KPIs for equipment functions would be 

determined in part by the selected Contractor, 
as a part of Task 10: Sources of Supply 
Analysis. 

Once the PoC is successful, what will be 
the quantity of order placed & who will 
decide this ? 

Please note that the referenced POC sites are 
currently operational and revenue-generating. 
Information on future orders are not currently 
available at this time. The size of any future 
order will be determined in part by the Study.  

Is the product evaluated is 2G / 3G or 4G All technologies/generations would be covered. 
The said grant amount covers delivery, 
customs, freight, warehousing, installation 
& commissioning & integration with MNO ? 

USTDA funding does not finance equipment or 
implementation costs. Please review the 
detailed Terms of Reference in Appendix 3 of 
the RFP for more information on the Study and 
what is covered under the USTDA-funded grant. 
 

Project Description ;  
(a) project concept/design and 

technology, 
(b) what are the ancillary facilities (if 

any)? 
(c) What is the spread for the 2,000 

base stations? How many per 
state. 

(a) The Project background, concept and 
technology is provided at a high level in 
the RFP. Additional confidential 
information would be provided as 
appropriate to the selected Contractor 
as a part of Task 1 : Kickoff. 

(b) There are no ancillary facilities. 
(c) The 2,000 base stations and their exact 

locations would be determined largely by 
the Study and would be in rural regions 
of Nigeria, although initial deployments 
would be focused predominantly in the 
Northcentral and Northwest areas of 
Nigeria, as noted above. 

Project Location; ( Can you provide us with 
the coordinates for the location of the 
base station (map or google earth images 
showing locations). 

We cannot share site lists with all Offerors as 
this information is confidential to Hotspot and 
MNO partners. Additional information, including 
already identified target sites, would be 
provided as appropriate to the selected 
Contractor as a part of Task 1: Kickoff. 

Land Requirements ;  
(a) Has the land for the base station 

been acquired?  
(b) what is estimated land take for 

each base station? 

(a) No, not all land has yet been acquired 
(b) The estimated land take would likely be 

12 meters x12 meters 

Stakeholder engagement ; ( Overview of 
engagement to date with local 
communities regarding land requirement 
(if available). 

N/A. This analysis is part of the focus of the 
Study in part, including under Task 9: Regulatory 
and Legal Assessment and under Task 6: 
Preliminary Environmental and Social Impact 
Assessment. 



QUESTION ANSWER 
In the Terms of Reference, Subtask 10.1 
specifies “an analysis of potential 
technologies from both local and 
international sources for each Project 
component.”    

a. Could you detail what is meant by 
“potential” technologies? – Are 
these proven technologies in use 
for similar projects or could they 
include any potential technology?  

b. Could you detail what is meant by 
“supplier option” and how this 
relates to “potential technologies” 
mentioned above in the subtask?  

c. Could you detail what is meant by 
“technical assessment of a supplier 
option”?     

(a) Open RAN technologies are targeted 
for this Project. 

 
(b) There are a number of suppliers with 

different offerings. The successful 
Offeror would be familiar with the 
industry and be able to conduct 
outreach and research to identify 
supplier options for use in the Project.  

 
(c) The assessment would analyze the 

outlined suppliers and their technical 
applicability to the Project 
component. 

Subtask 10.2 specifies that “The 
Contractor shall provide an update of U.S. 
exports in connection with the Project in 
each annual report that the Contractor 
submits in accordance with Clause S of 
Annex II of this Contract.” but no such 
clause could be found in Annex II.  Could 
you please clarify. 

Clause S of Annex II to the RFP, USTDA 
Mandatory Contract Clauses reads:  
 
S. Reporting Requirements 
 
The Contractor shall advise USTDA as to the 
status of the Project at least one (1) time per 
year for a period of two (2) years after 
completion of the Study. In addition, if at any 
time the Contractor receives follow-on work 
from the Client, the Contractor shall so notify 
USTDA and shall designate the Contractor’s 
point of contact related to such follow-on work, 
including such person’s name, title, address, 
telephone number and email address. Since this 
information may be made publicly available by 
USTDA, any information which is confidential 
must be designated as such by the Contractor 
and provided separately to USTDA. USTDA will 
maintain the confidentiality of such 
information in accordance with applicable law. 

Do you have an anticipated timeline for the 
execution of Feasibility Study. In my 
experience, I believe, based on the TOR, it 
should be around 9/10 months. 

The anticipated timeline is within 5 months 
once the Contract (see Annex II – USTDA 
Mandatory Contract Clauses) is executed. 
Specific timeline can be negotiated further with 
the selected Contractor. 

Since there is indeed rural travel expected, 
I was wondering what approximate 
percentage of the budget is allocated for 

There is no allocated amount for travel. Please 
note that price is not a factor in contractor 
selection and the maximum amount established 



QUESTION ANSWER 
expenses? My guess would be around 
18%. 

by the USTDA grant is US$998,809 ie it is a fixed 
price grant/contract. 

2.10 OFFEROR CERTIFICATIONS 
Q1: Can the offeror certifications 
statement be included in the transmittal 
letter or  should it they be in a standalone 
form? 

The offeror certifications statement can be 
included either in the transmittal letter or in a 
standalone form.  

2.13 PROPOSAL SUBMISSION 
REQUIREMENTS 
Q2a:  Could you confirm that the proposals 
can be submitted EITHER in physical form 
in Nigeria OR  electronically via email, or 
must an electronic submission be 
accompanied by a hard copy?  
Q2b: If submission via email only is 
allowed, should the files be password 
protected and password released to 
Grantee on May 31 deadline, or simply 
unprotected? 

(a) As noted in the amendment above and 
to clarify, an electronic submission must 
accompanied by a hard copy. Both 
versions are required by all offerors.   

 
(b) Offerors can password protect it and 

share the password at the deadline date, 
but this is not required. 

2.14 LABELING 
“For electronic submissions, proposals 
submitted electronically must be clearly 
labeled, including the contact name and 
the name of the project.” 
Q3a: If email submission only, what is the 
protocol for labeling? 
Q3b: If email submission only, what is the 
required subject line title? 

The subject of the email should read RFP 
response and project title and the body of the 
mail should include at a minimum the Offeror’s 
contact details. 

3.1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
“Offerors are requested to make every 
effort to limit the length of the Executive 
Summary to no more than five (5) pages.” 
Q4: Could you please specify minimum 
font size and line spacing? 

This is discretionary but the executive summary 
and the entirety of the proposal should be 
professional in appearance, concise and 
readable. Please see Section 2: 2.9 Economy of 
Proposals.  

3.3 US FIRM INFORMATION 
Q5: Do we need to submit US Firm 
information Attachment B for host country 
individual contributors as well?   
In addition to the two host country 
(Nigerian) firms we are currently working 
with, we will be adding two individual 
contributors, both citizens of Nigeria, to 
our team for local market and on the 
ground technical support.  

Yes, if an individual (U.S. or host country) is 
serving as a subcontractor, an Attachment B 
form must be submitted for the individual 
contributor. 

3.4 ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE, 
MANAGEMENT PLAN, AND KEY 
PERSONNEL 

6. CVs can be added as an appendix and 
referred to in the main document. CVs are 



QUESTION ANSWER 
Q6: CVs are requested in this section. 
Could we put all CVs in a separate 
Appendix?  
We will have key personnel bios and roles 
and responsibility in this section. However 
we feel CVs will overload the main 
document.  
Section 3.6 seems to require the same 
(see Q8) 
  
“Workforce schedule and the level of effort 
for the project period, by activities and 
tasks, as detailed under the Technical 
Approach and Work Plan shall be 
submitted”.  
Q7: Could you please specify what is 
specifically required and the level of detail 
required in the “workforce schedule”.  
The org structure and management plan 
highlights the role and responsibility of 
each team member per task. We will 
propose a workplan that will highlight all 
the activities and their duration. We will be 
using Microsoft project to manage 
personnel resources and task activities 
throughout the feasibility study as will be 
described in the methodology.  
 

encouraged to be not more than 2 pages in 
length per individual CV. 
 
Please note Section 2.9 Economy of Proposals.   
 
7. The Work Force schedule consists of 
resource utilization and allocation. It is up to the 
discretion of the Offeror and successful 
Contractor to manage its internal resources 
using appropriate project management 
software. 

3.6 EXPERIENCE AND QUALIFICATIONS 
“The Offeror shall provide information with 
respect to relevant experience and 
qualifications of key staff proposed.” 
Q8: How does the “qualifications of key 
staff proposed” here differ from the CVs 
requested in Section 3.4 (See Q6) 
  
“The Offeror shall include letters of 
commitment from the individuals 
proposed confirming their availability for 
contract performance.” 
Q9: Is there a standard USTDA form for the 
commitment letters?  
“As many as possible but not more than 
six (6) relevant and verifiable project 
references must be provided for each of 
the Offeror and any subcontractor…” 

 
8. As noted above, CVs may be attached as an 
appendix, where appropriate. 
 
9. There is no USTDA standard form  
 
10. Maximum of 6 references in total. 
References are not required for subcontractors 
but may be submitted if needed. 
 
 
Please note Section 2.9 Economy of Proposals.   



QUESTION ANSWER 
Q10: Is it a maximum of 6 references for 
the Offeror and subcontractors combined?  
TOR TASK 2: MARKET OVERVIEW, 
DEMAND STUDY, AND PARTNERSHIP 
REVIEW 
“The Contractor shall also (i) review the 
Client’s existing contracts with the MNOs”  
Q11: Since this is under the market 
assessment, can we assume that this is a 
commercial review of the agreement, not a 
legal review? 

Yes, Commercial review 

TOR TASK 3: TECHNICAL & COMMERCIAL 
VALIDATION OF PROOF OF CONCEPT 
SITES & TOR TASK 4: TECHNICAL 
ANALYSIS 
“The Contractor shall conduct any tests 
required to assess the technical 
performance of the POC Sites as 
configured at the time of the POC Site 
visits.” 
Q12a: How extensive are these tests? 
While the contractor will work with Hotspot 
and develop a test plan, will the contractor 
have access to test equipment resources 
and softwares to conduct the testing or is 
the contractor responsible for performing 
all tests on the network? 
Q12b: Does the contractor need to conduct 
a survey and profile the RF environment for 
the POC sites (Task 3) or Target 
Geographies Sites (Tas 4) ?   

12a: The selected Contractor shall be 
responsible for performing all tests, which 
would be conducted according to the TOR. 
 
12b: Yes the Contractor can conduct an RF 
survey of the proposed locations. 

What is the estimated ARPU that we 
should use in the model? 

The successful Contractor should be familiar 
with the current industry standard/practice for 
rural areas, which differs from urban areas. 

How much of the call volume is data and 
how much is voice? 

This question is unclear and does not appear to 
be specifically related to the RFP or the scope 
of work outlined in the TOR.  

What is the spread of handsets in terms of 
capability, 4G vs. 3G? 

The Study would analyze this question. 

Is 3G required or a combination of 2G and 
4G sufficient? 

As noted above, all technologies/generations 
would be considered. 

What backhaul should be assumed – 
microwave pt to pt or satellite? 

All, including LTE Relay 

Does participation in the feasibility study 
preclude the participant from participating 
in the implementation process, in any way, 
of said feasibility study? 

No, participation in the feasibility study does not 
preclude the selected U.S. Contractor or any of 
its subcontractors from participating in the 
implementation process in any way.  



QUESTION ANSWER 
Will the telecom network be installed 
within existing conduits and ductbank 
infrastructure or will the contractor need to 
establish the alignment for a new 
installation?  

 
The network would be connecting to MNO’s 
existing core network. 

Also, will we get the boundaries and 
location of existing topography, utilities 
and ROW in advance or is this part of our 
scope to assess and document existing 
conditions to study the feasibility of the 
telecom installation? 

Yes, please see notes above on sharing 
information and Task 1: Kickoff. Please also 
review the TOR.  

Do we need to have a prior relationship 
with the US firm for them to be on our 
team? 

Only qualified U.S. firms may serve as prime 
contractors. Qualified Nigerian firms may serve 
as subcontractors. Please refer to USTDA’s 
Nationality, Source and Origin requirements in 
Appendix 3 of the RFP and on USTDA’s website. 

In reference to the stated "100 rural areas" 
in the Task 2 of Annex 1, has the Grantee 
conducted a complete study on the 
demographics of all of the communities? If 
not, can we be provided with more details 
on the desk study regarding how many 
areas have been reviewed by the Grantee 
as well as which and where remain 
outstanding? 

This is for the Contractor to complete according 
to the TOR. Target is 500 rural areas likely 
spread across the 6 Geo-Political Zones. 

What is the Grantee's anticipated 
timeframe for this project 

The anticipated timeline for the Study is within 5 
months once the Contract (see Annex II – 
USTDA Mandatory Contract Clauses) is 
executed. Specific timeline can be negotiated 
further with the selected Contractor. 

What accommodation is in place for 
security personnel? Will this be provided 
for by the Grantee? 

No, security provisions are to be organized by 
the successful Contractor although the Grantee 
can provide support as outlined in the TOR, 
specifically in Task 3: Technical and 
Commercial Validation of Proof of Concept 
Sites. 
 
Offerors are encouraged to partner with local 
subcontractors where appropriate for the 
proposal and completion of the Study. 

In order to provide the most complete and 
thoughtful response, we were hoping for a 
two (2) week extension.  Would that be 
possible? 

Yes, the RFP deadline is now June 11, 2021.  

General: (a) No, this contract will not be subject to 
USTDA’s success fee and cost share 
requirements as this is a competed project.  



QUESTION ANSWER 
(a) Will this contract be subject to 

USTDA’s success fee and cost share 
requirements? 

(b) Can a subcontractor on one USTDA 
contract be a grantee on another 
USTDA contract? 

(b) There is no specific restriction for this 
arrangement.  

Market Research: 
(a) What is the accepted definition of rural 

for the purposes of this project?  Is this 
determined by number of people per 
region or is another indicator defined? 

(b) Market share forecast for each 
competitor – given the rapidly 
changing market environment are there 
any existing assumptions that should 
be included?   

(c) Will the Target geographies be shared 
prior to the submission of the bid?  The 
RFP mentions that 100 rural areas 
across 6 geopolitical regions in Nigeria 
are noted as Target Geographies. Is 
the expectation that each of these 100 
rural areas are individually surveyed 
and reported on for the market 
overview and demand study or is a 
sampling of these regions sufficient? 

 
(a) The acceptable definition of “rural” in 

emerging markets as per any existing 
World Bank or UNDP standards would 
suffice.  

(b) No assumptions are designated but the 
Contractor would be expected to do 
research and respond appropriately 

(c) No. Please see responses above. 
 

Technical: 
(a) Do the current 2 towers support a 

single MNO (e.g., MTN) or multiple 
MNOs?  

(b) Are the current 2 towers 2G only, or do 
they support more Gs? 

(c) Which RAN vendor equipment is 
deployed on these two pilot sites?  

(d) Who are the main RAN vendors for 
MTN and other MNOs in Nigeria?  

(e) Is the proposed network a neutral host 
network; i.e., multiple MNOs can 
connect and use common RAN 
resources?  

(f) Do the 500 sites and then 2000 sites in 
3-7 years need to support 2G and 3G, 
as well as 4G and 5G, as this might 
impact neutral host / network sharing 
opportunities?  

(a) Single MNO 
(b) Support 2 technologies in some cases and 

only 2G in others 
(c) Huawei equipment is operating on the 2 

POC sites. For context, other sites that the 
Grantee has deployed also utilize Parallel 
Wireless supplied equipment (22 sites) and 
Vanu (8 sites). 

 
(d)This is a research question for the Contractor 
but please see response above. 
(e) No 
(f) Yes, they need to support all technologies 
 

Human Resources: a) There is not already a human resource 
plan in place.  



QUESTION ANSWER 
(a) Could you please confirm that you 

already have developed a human 
resource plan and you are merely 
looking to assess and recommend 
changes to that plan based on global 
best practices in the mobile voice and 
data industry? 

Regulatory and Legal Assessment: 
(a) The introductory statement for the 

Regulatory and Legal Assessment task 
is so written as to have the effect of 
requesting a detailed legal, 
governance, and regulatory audit of 
ALL aspects of the operations of the 
client, pre and post Execution Date as 
may relate to the implementation of 
the project. Could you please confirm 
this scope? 

a) Yes, this is correct. Note that as the TOR 
language states, this would be a review 
and assessment. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 


